IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TYRONE JAMES, SR.,

Appellant,

VS.

Electronically Filed May 18 2017 09:16 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 71935

THE STATE OF NEVADA, Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Judge
District Court Case No. 10-C-265506

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 728-5300 Fax: (702) 425-8220

Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com

Counsel for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. The district entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law denying Appellant Tyrone James, Sr.'s petition on November 9, 2016. (4 PA847-862¹.) Mr. James submitted a timely notice of appeal on December 8, 2016. (4 JA807-08); *see also* Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 4(b)(1)(A) (mandating that a notice of appeal by a defendant or petitioner in a criminal case shall be filed with the district court clerk within 30 days after the entry of the judgment or order being appealed). This appeal is subject to this Court's jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.575.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it is an appeal from the appeal is from the denial of post-conviction relief pursuant to an order filed by the district court. *See* Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 17(a)(2).

///

///

¹ Citations to Petitioner's Appendix ("PA") are to both volume and page number(s). Hence, "4 PA847-862" refers to volume 4 of the Petitioner's Appendix at pages 847 through 862. Pursuant to Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 30(a), counsel for Mr. James contacted counsel for the State to confer regarding the possibility of submitting a joint appendix. Counsel for the State, however, indicated that he preferred to submit separate appendices.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by, *inter alia*:
 - 1. Failing to retain an expert witness to review the sexual assault examination of the victim in this matter, and failing to rebut testimony from the examining physician
 - 2. Failing to exclude highly attenuated and prejudicial evidence;
 - 3. Failing to object to the admission of attenuated and prejudicial evidence at trial;
 - 4. Failing to conduct adequate investigation; and
 - 5. Failing to object to the State's use of a highly prejudicial PowerPoint presentation during closing argument.
- B. Whether trial counsel's deficient performance warrants reversal as cumulative error.
- C. Whether the district court erred in limiting the scope of the evidentiary hearing on Mr. James' post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus.

/	/	/
/	/	/
/	/	/
/	/	/
/	/	/

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a denial of Appellant Tyrone James, Sr.'s postconviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus. On June 23, 2010, the State filed a five count information charging Mr. James with two counts of Sexual Assault With a Minor Under Sixteen Years of Age, in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 200.364 and 200.366 (Counts One and Three); two counts of Open and Gross Lewdness, in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 201.210 (Counts Two and Four); and one count of Battery With Intent to Commit a Crime, in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.400 (Count Five). (1 PA042-44 (Criminal Information).) Counts One and Three carried a mandatory minimum sentence of twenty-five years to life. Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.366(3)(b). Mr. James elected to proceed to a jury trial. Trial commenced on September 21, 2010, and lasted three days. (1 PA029 (Register of Actions).) On September 23, 2010, the jury entered a verdict finding Mr. James guilty of all five counts contained in the criminal information. (3 PA491-92 (verdict form).)

The district court sentenced Mr. James on January 19, 2011. (3 PA501-02.) At sentencing, the district court dismissed Counts Two and Four as lesser-included offenses of Counts One and Three. The Court then sentenced Mr. James to twenty-five years to life on Counts One and Three, and two years to life on Count Five, all to run concurrent. (*Id.*) The court entered a judgment of conviction on February 9, 2011. (3 PA504-06.)

Mr. James filed a timely notice of appeal on March 7, 2011. (1 PA029.) On December 9, 2011, Mr. James filed an opening brief with the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada. (3 PA508-70.) On October 31, 2012, this Court entered an order affirming Mr. James' convictions. (3 PA573-92 (Order of Affirmance and Remittitur).)

On March 14, 2013, Mr. James filed a pro se petition for a writ of habeas corpus. (3 PA594-610.) After the district court appointed counsel, Mr. James filed his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on September 9, 2015. (1 PA001-021 ("Supplemental Petition").)

In his Supplemental Petition, Mr. James asserted several claims for relief relating to ineffective assistance of trial counsel by failing to retain an expert to rebut testimony from the State's expert witness that the medical examination of the victim in this case, demonstrated Mr. James had committed sexual assault. Mr. James also asserted that trial counsel was ineffective because he failed to file any pretrial motions to exclude critical—but highly questionable—evidence from being introduced at trial, failed to conduct reasonable investigation prior to trial, and failed to object to the State's use of a highly prejudicial PowerPoint presentation during its closing argument.

Following the completion of briefing, the district court found that Mr. James was entitled to an evidentiary hearing only on trial counsel's failure to retain an

expert. That hearing occurred on October 3, 2016. (4 PA806 (minutes of hearing); 4 PA808-46 (transcript).) After that hearing, the district court entered an order denying all of Mr. James' claims. (4 PA847-862.) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Alleged Sexual Assault

In this case, the State alleged that Mr. James sexually assaulted T.H.,² the teenaged daughter of his ex-girlfriend, Theresa Allen. Mr. James began dating Ms. Allen in 2008. (21 PA258 (Jury Trial Day Two; testimony of Theresa Allen).) Ms. Allen had three minor children at the time, including T.H. (2 PA253.) For a time, Mr. James lived with Ms. Allen and her children. (2 PA261.) In either late January or early February of 2010, Mr. James moved out of Ms. Allen's residence and began living with his grandmother. (2 PA262.) Even after he moved out, Mr. James and Ms. Allen maintained some sort of romantic relationship. (*Id.*) In April 2010, Ms. Allen was in a car accident. (2 PA263.) As Ms. Allen was recovering from the accident, Mr. James assisted her by driving her to appointments and running errands. (*Id.*)

-

² Pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 200.3771(1), court records which reveal the identity of a victim of a sexual offense are considered confidential. To protect the confidentiality of the victim in this case, Mr. James refers to the victim only by her initials—T.H. In addition, Mr. James has redacted transcripts and filings including in the appendix to remove T.H.'s full name, as well as her personal identifying information, and the personal identifying information of T.H.'s family.

On or about May 14, 2010, Mr. James agreed to help Ms. Allen pay her power bill. (2 PA265.) According to Ms. Allen, Mr. James agreed to pawn his laptop to pay the bill; Ms. Allen intended to get Mr. James' laptop out of pawn when she received her paycheck. (*Id.*) On the morning of May 14, 2010, Ms. Allen spoke to Mr. James on the phone as she was getting ready for work. (2 PA266-67.) Ms. Allen testified that Mr. James told her he was planning to pay her power bill that morning, and then take his grandmother fishing. (2 PA266.)

Sometime after that conversation, Ms. Allen took her two younger children to school and went to work. (2 PA267.) T.H. was a high school sophomore at the time, planned to walk to school that morning. (2 PA186; 2 PA196.) According to T.H., she had planned on waking up at 9:20 a.m. that morning to allow herself enough time to get to school. (2 PA196.) However, according to T.H., she heard a noise that woke up before her alarm went off. (2 PA195-96.) That noise, T.H. testified, was made by Mr. James, who was standing in her room. (2 PA96-97.)

T.H. testified Mr. James jumped onto her bed. (2 PA198.) She testified that she then reached for her cell phone to call her mother, but the phone fell and Mr. James took it from her. (2 PA199.) T.H. testified she tried to escape Mr. James, but he jumped on her and grabbed her by the neck. (*Id.*) Mr. James then allegedly pulled down the shirt T.H. was wearing, and took off her underwear. (*Id.*) T.H. stated Mr. James pulled her into the living room by her arm. (2 PA199-200.) T.H. testified Mr.

James forced her to lie on the floor, and then penetrated her vagina with his finger for a few seconds. (2 PA201-02; 2 PA203.) According to T.H., Mr. James was wearing latex gloves. (2 PA201-02.) T.H. testified that Mr. James then "pulled out his penis and rubbed it inside [her] vagina like between the lips." (2 PA203-05.) T.H. testified Mr. James had his hand on her neck during the entire encounter. (2 PA203.)

T.H. testified Mr. James then stopped, and directed her to sit on a couch in the living room. (2 PA205.) After a brief conversation, T.H. got dressed for school. (2 PA206.) Mr. James then returned her cell phone, and drove her to school. (*Id.*; 2 PA209.) Shortly after getting to school, T.H. texted her sister and a friend about what had happened. (2 PA223.) T.H.'s sister forwarded the text message to their mother, Ms. Allen. (*Id.*) Ms. Allen left work and went to T.H.'s school to pick T.H. up. (2 PA270.)

Ms. Allen later called 911 to report the alleged assault. (2 PA279.) 911 dispatched Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") officers to Ms. Allen's house. (1 PA149-50.) After the officers took a police report, they drove Ms. Allen and T.H. to Sunrise Children's Hospital for a sexual assault examination. (*Id.*)

B. The State's Expert Witness

At the hospital, T.H. was examined by Dr. Theresa Vergara, an attending physician at Sunrise Children's Hospital. (2 PA327; 2 PA331.) Dr. Vergara conducted a Suspected Child Abuse and Neglect (SCAN) examination on T.H. to

determine whether she had been sexually assaulted. (2 PA328; 2 PA 331.) Dr. Vergara testified that, consistent with a typical SCAN examination, she examined T.H. "from head to toe," and then examined her genital area. (2 PA333; 2 PA335-38.) As part of her examination, Dr. Vergara used a colposcope—a lighted magnifying instrument used to examine and photograph the tissue of the vagina and cervix—to examine T.H. for signs of sexual assault and collect photographic evidence. (2 PA334; *see also* 1 PA061 (portion of SCAN Report indicating Dr. Vergara photographs of T.H.'s genital area).) Dr. Vergara also swabbed T.H.'s genitalia to test for other evidence, including DNA.³ (2 PA334; 1 PA061; 1 PA173 (Det. Tomaino testifies that DNA samples were taken during SCAN examination).) Dr. Vergara prepared a SCAN report documenting the findings of her examination. (1 PA0058-0071.)

During her examination, Dr. Vergara found no bruising, tearing, or bleeding in T.H.'s vaginal area, but did find some generalized swelling to the introitus of T.H.'s vagina. (2 PA335; 2 PA337.) Although Dr. Vergara testified the generalized swelling she observed could be caused by trauma, she admitted it could be caused by other things. (2 PA336; 2 PA342.) Dr. Vergara testified that she discovered T.H.

³ The police did not find Mr. James' DNA in the samples Dr. Vergara obtained. (1 PA173-74.)

had a urinary tract infection, as well as a vaginal bacterial infection called strep agalactiae, as well as another strep infection. (2 PA341-44.)

During her direct examination, Dr. Vergara testified the swelling she found was consistent with trauma. (2 PA335-36.) On cross-examination, however, Dr. Vergara admitted her findings were too non-specific to definitively conclude that the swelling was caused by the alleged assault. (1 PA173-74.) Despite the inconclusive results of Dr. Vergara's SCAN examination, Mr. James' trial counsel did not hire an expert to conduct an independent examination of Dr. Vergara's report, and did not conduct any other sort of investigation regarding the SCAN report. (4 PA813; 4 PA819-20 (testimony of trial counsel at hearing on post-conviction petition).)

C. The Latex Gloves

As noted above, T.H. testified Mr. James was wearing gloves on the morning of the assault. While Ms. Allen and T.H. were at the hospital, LVMPD Detective Hatchett searched Ms. Allen's residence for evidence related to the alleged assault. (1 PA151.) The detective did not find any gloves during his search. However, on May 19, 2010—five days after the alleged assault—Ms. Allen called the lead detective assigned to the case, Detective Tomaino, because she had allegedly found "a box of Michael [sic] Air Jordans that were sitting under her bed that had some rubber gloves inside." (1 PA156.) According to Detective Tomaino, the box was sitting on Ms. Allen's bed when he arrived at her residence to retrieve them. (*Id.*)

The State introduced the gloves as evidence during Mr. James' trial. (1 PA157.) Although the evidentiary value of the gloves was highly suspect given the five-day delay between the alleged assault and Ms. Allen's purported discovery of the gloves, trial counsel did not file any motions to preclude the introduction of the gloves at trial. Trial counsel also did not object to their introduction during Mr. James' trial. (*See*, *e.g.*, 1 PA157 (trial counsel indicates no objection to introduction of gloves).) Both Detective Tomaino and Ms. Allen testified about the latex gloves. (1 PA156-58; *see also* 2 PA283-84; 2 PA296-97.)

Trial counsel's failure to oppose the introduction of the gloves is troubling, given that on July 22, 2010, Mr. James' counsel had written that he believed "the glove is key for several reasons," and directed his investigator to contact Ms. Allen to determine whether "she kept any latex, or other, cleaning gloves in her home." (1 PA121 (investigative task list).) On August 3, 2010, trial counsel's investigator visited with Ms. Allen at her apartment. (1 PA125 (August 3, 2010 investigative memorandum).) According to the investigator, Ms. Allen stated "police seized a box of white latex gloves from under her bathroom sink." (*Id.*)⁴ Despite his statement

⁴ This statement (that the box was found under the sink) conflicted with Ms. Allen's and Detective Tomaino's testimony at trial that Ms. Allen had found the gloves in a shoe box under her *bed*, but trial counsel did not explore this conflict. (*Compare* 1 PA156 (Detective Tomaino testifies Ms. Allen stated she found the gloves in a shoe box under her bed); 2 PA283 (Ms. Allen testifies she found the gloves in a shoe box under her bed).)

that the gloves were "key" evidence, however, and trial counsel conducted no further investigation.

D. Trial Counsel Failed to Object to the State's Use of a Highly Prejudicial PowerPoint During its Closing Argument

Closing arguments in this case occurred on September 23, 2010. (3 PA445-78 (transcript of closing arguments; Jury Trial Day 3).) During its closing argument, the State used a PowerPoint presentation that was displayed to the jury. (3 PA494-99.) The PowerPoint served to emphasize certain points in the State's Closing argument, including the alleged crimes outlined the criminal information (3 PA494-95), the definitions of certain terms the district court had included in its instructions to the jury (3 PA495-96), and the State's summation of its evidence against Mr. James. (3 PA497-98.)

At the end of this presentation, the State told the jury: "Ladies and gentlemen, after you consider the evidence in this case, the State is confident you will return a verdict of guilty." (3 PA456.) As the State was saying this to the jury, it was also displaying its final PowerPoint slide to the jury: a photography of Mr. James with the word "GUILTY" emblazoned across his face. (3 PA499.) Mr. James' trial counsel did not object to the State's use of this highly suggestive slide. Additionally, there is no indication trial counsel lodged any objection to the State's use of the PowerPoint presentation prior to trial.

E. Trial Counsel's Failure to Conduct Adequate Investigation

In addition to failing to adequately investigate the issue regarding the latex gloves, the record in this case demonstrates trial counsel did virtually no investigation in the nearly four months leading up to Mr. James's trial. Aside from asking his investigator to as Ms. Allen about the gloves, the investigative task list in this case indicates trial counsel conducted only two other investigative tasks: subpoenaing the 911 call Ms. Allen made on the day of the incident, and visiting Mr. James while he was in custody at the Clark County Detention Center. (1 PA121-27; see also 3 PA612-13; 3 PA618-19 (declarations from relatives that trial counsel did not contact them prior to trial).)

- F. Post-Conviction Counsel Retains an Expert to Review Dr. Vergara's SCAN Report.
 - 1. Mr. James' Post-Conviction Medical Expert Casts Doubts on Dr. Vergara's Conclusions.

Post-conviction counsel retained Dr. Joyce A. Adams to evaluate the records in this case. 4 PA701; *see also* 4 PA716-719 (Dr. Adams' report of evolution).) In her report, Dr. Adams contradicts Dr. Vergara's testimony and shows that it was susceptible to attack at trial. Dr. Adams' review of the available medical records indicate T.H. had a urinary tract infection and a genital infection caused by Chlamydia trachomatis. (4 PA717.) Dr. Adams notes that Dr. Vergara documented "no signs of redness, bruising, bleeding or lacerations" anywhere on T.H.'s body. (*Id.*) Indeed, Dr. Vergara's "only finding was described as 'generalized swelling' of

the genital tissues when the labia were separated." (*Id.*) However, as Dr. Adams explains, the alleged swelling Dr. Vergara reported may not have been clinically significant.

Rather, the "generalized swelling" Dr. Vergara observed "is a very nonspecific finding, meaning that it can have many different causes." (4 PA717.) For example, Dr. Adams indicates that the swelling could have been caused by the hormone estrogen, because estrogen "affects the [vaginal] tissues differently in different women, causing tissues to have a fuller look." (Id.) Other causes of the swelling can include a yeast infection or infection with the herpes virus. (4 PA718.) With regard to yeast infections, Dr. Adams observes that T.H. had borderline diabetes. (Id.) According to Dr. Adams, this condition can "pre-dispose a woman to yeast infections." (Id.) Despite this predisposition, Dr. Vergara did not test T.H. for the presence of a yeast infection. (Id.) Dr. Adams further indicates that local irritation from "reaction to soap or other cleansers, rubbing of tight clothing, or vigorous wiping with tissues after toileting" could also cause the swelling Dr. Vergara allegedly observed. (Id.)

Significantly, Dr. Adams' report indicates Dr. Vergara's finding of generalized swelling is unsound because she did not re-examine T.H. at a later date to determine whether the swelling had abated. Dr. Adams notes that "[i]n practice, the best way to determine if swelling of a body part is present is to have the patient

return in several days to a week and see if the tissues look the same or different." (*Id.*) There is no evidence in the record that Dr. Vergara or another physician examined T.H. after the initial SCAN examination to determine whether the swelling to T.H.'s vaginal area had gone away. Thus, it is unclear the generalized swelling Dr. Vergara reported actually existed.

Dr. Adams' report further calls into question the methodology Dr. Vergara used in her examination of T.H. As described in Dr. Adams' report, the SCAN examination form Dr. Vergara used included a "modified version of a classification system" Dr. Adams and her colleagues published in 1992. (4 PA718; *see also* 1 PA084 (portion of SCAN Examination labelled "Overall Impression").) According to a 2005 paper authored by Dr. Adams, the classification system was "was intended to assist team members to arrive at sound conclusions from medical evaluations of children suspected of having been sexually abused, and to help achieve some consistency among these providers in interpreting their medical findings." (4 PA762 (2005 article authored by Dr. Adams).)

The classification system included a section which required an examiner to make an overall assessment of whether the physical symptoms the examiner observed were consistent with sexual abuse. In her 2005 report, Dr. Adams explained this overall assessment category was determined to be clinically unreliable because providers were using it inappropriately:

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