IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jun 27 2017 10:18 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TYRONE JAMES, SR.,

Appellant,

V.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 71935

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARGARET A. MCLETCHIE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010931 McLetchie Shell LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 728-5300 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

James received effective assistance of counsel. First, contrary to his contention, failure to consult a medical expert does not automatically qualify counsel's representation to be deemed ineffective. Rather, like with any ineffective assistance claim, this Court should review counsel's actions for reasonableness and any prejudicial effect the actions had on the client. Here, counsel made the virtually unchallengeable, strategic decision to discredit the testimony of the State's medical witness through cross-examination. Counsel was effective in revealing all the information that James suggests he should have sought from an expert. Further, James's preferred expert could not have offered the conclusive testimony he alleges. Lastly, James fails to allege in his brief how the outcome would have been different had that expert testified. Moreover, the overwhelming evidence in this case demonstrates that James was not prejudiced by this inaction and still would have been convicted.

Next, it would have bene futile for counsel to object to the admissibility of the latex gloves as James suggests should have been done. The gloves were highly probative as they corroborated T.H.'s account of the sexual assault. Moreover, James failed to provide any explanation as to why he believed the gloves to be prejudicial.

Third, James's claim regarding counsel's alleged failure to investigate was bare and naked and, thus, insufficient to warrant relief.

Lastly, counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to the State's PowerPoint slide. James cited irrelevant and non-binding case law when a case directly on point, Artiga-Morales v. State, 130 Nev. ____, 335 P.3d 179, 182 (2014), makes it clear that the State's slide, which superimposed the word "GUILTY" over James's booking photograph, is permitted during closing arguments. Additionally, James failed to demonstrate how the outcome of the trial would have been different had that slide not been shown.

For all of these reasons, this Court was correct to deny James's ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Further, this Court was correct to deny his claim of cumulative ineffective assistance of counsel. Such a thing as cumulative ineffective assistance of counsel does not, and cannot logically, exist. Ineffective assistance of counsel claims require, as an element, harm, or prejudice. The doctrine of cumulative error involves the accumulation of harmless errors. Because there can be no error of ineffective assistance that is harmless, there cannot be an accumulation of harmless ineffective assistance errors to result in reversal based on cumulative error.

Finally, the District Court did not abuse its discretion in limiting the scope of the evidentiary hearing. Each of James's claim, aside from his claim regarding retaining an expert, was either bare and naked or contradicted by authority from this Court. The District Court had an obligation to deny those claims without holding a hearing and uselessly expanding the record. It was proper for it to do so.

For all of these reasons, this Court should affirm the District Court's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order denying James's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT JAMES RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

James raises here, as he did below, four claims of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Appellant's Opening Brief (OB) at 23-34. Specifically, he alleges that counsel was ineffective for (1) failing to retain an expert witness to review and rebut the opinion of the State's medical expert, (2) failing to challenge the admission of latex gloves, (3) failing to adequately investigate, and (4) failing to object to the use of a PowerPoint during the State's closing argument. <u>Id.</u> However, as the District Court found below, James has failed to demonstrate on any of his claims that counsel's performance was deficient and that he suffered prejudice as a result. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the District Court's order denying the Petition.

This Court gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters but reviews the court's application of the law to those facts de novo. State

<u>v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. ____, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013).

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are analyzed under a two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984), wherein the petitioner must show: (1) that counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

"Surmounting *Strickland*'s high bar is never an easy task." <u>Padilla v. Kentucky</u>, 559 U.S. 356, 371, 130 S. Ct. 1473, 1485 (2010), because the issue is whether the attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under prevailing professional norms, "not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." <u>Harrington v. Richter</u>, 562 U.S. 86, 88, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778 (2011). Further, "[e]ffective counsel does not mean errorless counsel, but rather counsel whose assistance is '[w]ithin the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." <u>Jackson v. Warden, Nevada State Prison</u>, 91 Nev. 430, 432, 537 P.2d 473, 474 (1975) (quoting <u>McMann v. Richardson</u>, 397 U.S. 759, 771, 90 S. Ct. 1441, 1449 (1970)).

A Court begins with a presumption of effectiveness and then must determine whether the petitioner has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that counsel was ineffective. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 1011-12, 103 P.3d 25, 32-33 (2004). The role of a court in considering alleged ineffective assistance of

counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978) (citing <u>Cooper v. Fitzharris</u>, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)).

In considering whether trial counsel was effective, this Court must determine whether counsel made a "sufficient inquiry into the information that is pertinent to his client's case," and then whether counsel made "a reasonable strategy decision on how to proceed with his client's case." <u>Doleman v State</u>, 112 Nev. 843, 846, 921 P.2d 278, 280 (1996) (citing <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690–91, 104 S. Ct. at 2066).

Counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make futile objections. Ennis v. State, 122 Nev. 694, 137 P.3d 1095 (2006). Additionally, strategic and tactical decisions are "virtually unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." Doleman, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280. Trial counsel "has the immediate and ultimate responsibility of deciding if and when to object, which witnesses, if any, to call, and what defenses to develop." Wainwright v. Sykes, 433 U.S. 72, 93, 97 S. Ct. 2497, 2510 (1977); accord Rhyne v. State, 118 Nev. 1, 8, 38 P.3d 163, 167 (2002).

The decision to obtain or not obtain an expert for the defense is a tactical issue, which is solely determined by Petitioner's counsel, and virtually unchallengeable.

Rhyne, 118 Nev. at 8, 38 P.3d at 167; Ford v. State, 105 Nev. 850, at 853, 784 P.2d at 953 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066). A petitioner claiming ineffective assistance of counsel from the failure to call or prepare expert witnesses must allege specifically what the experts could have done to make a different result reasonably probable, and allege with specificity what the evidence would have been had they been better prepared. Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 28 P.3d 498 (2001).

A petitioner who contends that his attorney was ineffective because he did not adequately investigate must show how a better investigation would have rendered a more favorable outcome. Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). In order to demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's failure to investigate, the result would have been different, it must be clear from the "record what it was about the defense case that a more adequate investigation would have uncovered." Id.

Furthermore, this analysis does not indicate that a court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics, nor does it mean that trial counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711 (citing <u>Cooper</u>, 551 F.2d at 1166 (9th Cir. 1977)). In essence, a court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the

particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

In order to meet the "prejudice" prong of the test, the petitioner must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068. Indeed, "it is not enough to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." Harrington, 562 U.S. at 104, 131 S. Ct. at 787 (quotation and citation omitted). Instead, the defendant must demonstrate that but for counsel's incompetence the results of the proceeding would have been different:

In assessing prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>, the question is not whether a court can be certain counsel's performance had no effect on the outcome or whether it is possible a reasonable doubt might have been established if counsel acted differently. Instead, <u>Strickland</u> asks whether it is reasonably likely the results would have been different. This does not require a showing that counsel's actions more likely than not altered the outcome, but the difference between <u>Strickland</u>'s prejudice standard and a more-probable-than-not standard is slight and matters only in the rarest case. The likelihood of a different result must be substantial, not just conceivable.

<u>Id.</u> at 111-12, 131 S. Ct. at 791-92 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

A. Counsel Was Not Ineffective For Failing to Retain an Expert Witness.

James's first claim was that counsel was ineffective for failing to retain an expert medical witness. 1 AA 10, OB at 23. James contended that because there was "scant and inconclusive physical evidence indicating Mr. James sexually assaulted T.H.," it was unreasonable for counsel not to retain an expert witness. 1 AA 10, OB at 24.

James relied on an unbinding case, Gersten v. Senkowski, 426 F.3d 588 (2d Cir. 2005), for the proposition that counsel's failure to consult with a medical expert is indicative of ineffective assistance of counsel. 3 AA 704, OB at 24. However, James's reliance is misplaced. First, the court in Gersten noted that there is no per se rule that requires trial attorneys to seek out an expert. Id., 426 F.3d at 609. Moreover, the Court emphasized, "We do not even mean to hold that expert consultation is always necessary in order to provide effective assistance of counsel in child sexual abuse cases. . . " Id. In Gersten, the court found that counsel's failure was not justified as an objectively reasonable strategic choice in that specific case because counsel chose to concede the State's medical evidence without even requesting to examine colposcopic slides that were made part of the record of the physical evidence of the trauma observed by the medical expert. Id. In this case, unlike Gersten, counsel never conceded the State's medical evidence. To the contrary, counsel was able to attack Dr. Vergara's expert testimony through crossexamination after requesting and reviewing the medical evidence. 2 AA 328-59. Therefore, James's reliance on <u>Gersten</u> is and was unpersuasive.

James claimed that if counsel had consulted with an expert such as Dr. Joyce Adams, he would have been able to question Dr. Vergara about whether she had eliminated other possible causes of the swelling she observed. 3 AA 708, OB at 25. James's claim is meritless because at trial, counsel did question Dr. Vergara regarding other possible causes of the swelling she observed. 2 AA 328-59. First, during direct examination Dr. Vergara testified that generalized swelling could be consistent with causes other than sexual penetration or rubbing. Afterwards, counsel cross-examined Dr. Vergara on whether during her examination of T.H. she was able to document other potential causes for the generalized swelling; causes that had nothing to do with sexual assault. 2 AA 345. Dr. Vergara testified that T.H. tested positive for a urinary tract infection "UTI" and a strep infection, which can both cause genital or vaginal swelling or redness. 2 AA 342-45. Dr. Vergara further testified that generalized swelling could be from anything, from urinary tract infection, from poor hygiene; it is a non-specific finding. 2 AA 354-55.

In short, counsel made a virtually unchallengeable, strategic decision to discredit Dr. Vergara through cross-examination. And based on the facts *supra*,

James failed to demonstrate that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and his claim was properly denied.

Additionally, James claimed that counsel was ineffective for not consulting an expert because counsel could have cross-examined Dr. Vergara regarding T.H.'s predisposition for yeast infections and her failure to test her for one. 3 AA 709. However, such a claim is without merit. In this case, it was a reasonable strategic decision to focus on the presence of a UTI and a strep infection in T.H.'s system, rather than focus on a lack of testing for a speculative yeast infection. By focusing on the presence of both the UTI and a strep infection in T.H.'s system, counsel was able to present a documented medical alternative cause for the generalized swelling observed by Dr. Vergara. Thus, this was a reasonable strategic decision that is virtually unchallengeable. See, Doleman, 112 Nev. at 846, 921 P.2d at 280.

Next, James claimed that counsel was ineffective for not consulting an expert because it is unclear whether the generalized swelling Dr. Vergara reported actually existed. 3 AA 707. James cited to Dr. Adams' report, which states her opinion that the best practice to determine if swelling is present is to have the patient return in several days. <u>Id.</u> However, in her report Dr. Adams concedes that without a review of the photographs of the generalized swelling, it is impossible to say whether a different expert would have agreed or disagreed that there was actually generalized swelling. 3 AA 717. Thus, Dr. Adams could not have concluded and testified that

Dr. Vergara could not have properly determined the presence of swelling without having T.H. return for a follow up examination. Therefore, James's claim was properly denied.

Finally, James contends that an expert witness could have raised questions regarding the reliability of a form Dr. Vergara used. Second Supplement p. 11. The form Defendant refers to is the portion of the SCAN examination titled "Overall Impression." 1 AA 84. To support his claim, James cites to Dr. Adams' 2005 article discussing the form's appropriateness. 3 AA 707-08. In her article, Dr. Adams stated that the Overall Assessment, which is similar to the form used by Dr. Vergara, was being inappropriately used by some medical examiners as a checklist approach to the diagnostic of child sexual abuse. 4 AA 762. Furthermore, Dr. Adams stated the concern that inexperienced medical providers were using the tables as a substitute for a more thorough clinical assessment and determination of the likelihood of sexual abuse. Id. However, in the article, Dr. Adams concluded:

> The history provided by the child, the child's medical history, the history as reported by parents or other caregivers regarding behavioral or emotional changes in a child, and the results of a careful physical examination must all be integrated into a comprehensive assessment by those individuals with responsibility to perform these evaluations.

4 AA 763.

³ It should be noted that the form Jones refers to was never admitted as evidence.

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